IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO3-1229

MICHAEL L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO 500 S.E. 6TH ST., STE. 100 FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 (954) 523-7949 FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 955700

JAMES S. LEWIS 500 S.E. 6TH ST., STE. 100 FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 (954)523-7949 FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 318957

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal of the denial of post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 after a limited evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R. __" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PCR. __" -- record on instant appeal to this Court;

"Supp. PCR. __" -- supplemental record on appeal to this Court;

"T __" – transcripts of hearings in instant appeal.

References to other documents and pleadings will be self-explanatory.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Robinson has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Robinson, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 23, 1995, Mr. Robinson pled guilty to first-degree murder and, after waiving a penalty phase jury, the trial court imposed the death penalty on April 12, 1995. Mr. Robinson requested the death penalty and asked that no mitigating factors be considered. This Court in *Robinson v. State*, 684, So.2d 175 (Fla. 1996), vacated the sentence and remanded, finding that the trial judge (this Court did not permit a jury to consider mitigation) was required to weigh and consider mitigating evidence. Upon remand, Mr. Robinson attempted to withdraw his plea, but counsel's oral motion to withdraw Mr. Robinson's previously entered plea was denied. After a penalty phase hearing, the trial court again imposed the death penalty on August 15, 1997. This Court affirmed in *Robinson v. State*, 761 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1999), *cert. denied*, 529 U.S. 1057 (2000).

On February 21, 2001, Mr. Robinson filed his original Motion to Vacate

Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Request for Leave to Amend (PCR104137), and the State thereafter moved to strike the motion without prejudice

¹After being informed by the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel–Middle Region office that it could not accept Mr. Robinson's case, the trial court, on February 14, 2000, appointed attorney Christopher L. Smith from the capital attorney registry (PCR6). On February 22, 2000, attorney Smith filed a Notice of Appearance, Waiver of Arraignment, Written Plea of Not Guilty, Demand for Discovery, and Request for Jury Trial (PCR11). On September 6, 2000, Mr. Robinson filed a *pro se* request for the removal of Smith and for the appointment

(PCR140). The court denied the State's motion to strike, but granted Mr. Robinson up to and including October 4, 2001, to file a complete amended Rule 3.850 motion (PCR174). On October 3, 2001, Mr. Robinson filed his final amended Rule 3.850 motion, which raised twenty-seven (27) claims (PCR182-261). On November 8, 2001, the State filed its response, objecting to an evidentiary hearing (PCR262-289). After the circuit court held a *Huff*² hearing on June 7, 2002 (T437-469), the court ordered an evidentiary hearing on Claim III of Mr. Robinson's amended motion involving allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase by failing to accurately and properly withdraw Mr. Robinson's previously entered guilty plea (PCR485).

The evidentiary hearing was conducted on January 29-30, 2003 (T1-377). In support of his allegations, Mr. Robinson presented testimony from a neuro-

of other counsel, alerting the court to the fact that Smith, despite having been appointed over six (6) months earlier, had yet to personally meet with Mr. Robinson or communicate with him in any fashion (PCR68). By order dated September 12, 2000, the lower court entered an order requiring Smith to personally visit with Mr. Robinson on death row (PCR75). Following a telephonic hearing after Smith had visited with Mr. Robinson, the court, after considering Mr. Robinson's continued dissatisfaction with a lawyer who had not done anything on his case in some six (6) months, appointed attorney James Lewis off of the registry (T379-393). Mr. Lewis thereupon entered his appearance on behalf of Mr. Robinson (PCR77). Mr. Lewis continued to represent Mr. Robinson without incident.

²*Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

psychologist, Dr. Wiley Mittenberg, Dr. Jonathan Lippman, a neuropharmacologist, Dr. John Spencer, forensic psychologist, Robert Swift, prison ministry volunteer, Barbara Judy, Mr. Robinson's mother, and lead trial counsel Mark Bender. The State presented Harry McClaren, forensic psychologist.³ After both the State and Mr. Robinson submitted post-hearing memoranda (PCR521; 533), the circuit court issued an order on May 15, 2003, denying relief (PCR540). After timely filing his Notice of Appeal (PCR561), this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS ADDUCED AT EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Mark Bender. Bender has been an attorney licenced in Florida since 1985 (T4). After spending four (4) years in the employ of the Orange County State Attorney's Office, Bender went into private practice focusing primarily on criminal defense (T4). Mr. Robinson's case was the first death penalty case he had handled either as a prosecutor or as defense counsel (T5). Shortly after his appointment, Bender requested the appointment of co-counsel, Mr. Irwin, which is a customary practice in Orange County (T6). Ultimate responsibility for Mr. Robinson's case, however, rested with Bender (T6). Since it became clear early on that Mr.

³Following the granting of the evidentiary hearing, the State had moved for the appointment of Dr. McClaren to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Robinson (PCR500). The court granted the motion for the State to have access to Mr. Robinson for purposes of conducting a mental health examination (PCR504).

Robinson did not want to mount a defense to the charges, the normal division of labor among the attorneys between guilt and penalty phase did not need to be made (T6-7).

Bender "honestly believed" that he and Irwin did their best to convince Mr. Robinson to prepare a defense and save his life, but recognized that "[t]here really was no defense that we could mount" given Mr. Robinson's confession (T8). Mr. Robinson was "very sure" and "positive" that "this was the path that he had chosen" (T8). Mr. Robinson's position was "unique" and would "clearly" set off alarms in terms of potential mental health issues (T9). To Bender, Mr. Robinson appeared "competent" and his decision to seek his death "in a perverse way made sense" (T9). Bender explained that Mr. Robinson was "devoutly religious" and "wanted to kill himself" but that was against his religion (T9-10). Mr. Robinson expressed that he did not want to spend the rest of his life in prison (T10).

Bender did not discuss the voluntariness of or the circumstances surrounding Mr. Robinson's confession "at length or with due diligence," although it appeared to Bender that it was unlikely that the confession would be excluded (T10). He nonetheless sought to have Mr. Robinson evaluated by mental health experts "to see if there might be some mental issues that we could utilize" (T10), and did not believe he ever filed a motion to suppress Mr. Robinson's statements

to law enforcement (T11). The issue of voluntary intoxication "may have been discussed" with Mr. Robinson but "it was not a viable defense that we strategized" (T11). Discussion defense options with Mr. Robinson "seemed fruitless" given his desire to plead guilty, and so "we focused on what little mitigation we could gather prior to the sentencing hearing" (T11). Bender and/or Irwin also would have discussed with Mr. Robinson the issue of presenting a defense in order to lessen the charge from first-degree murder to second-degree murder or manslaughter, but they were not "long discussions" given Mr. Robinson's desire not to have a trial (T12).

Based on the "facts and circumstances" of the offense, Bender "knew that there was a [mental health] problem" with Mr. Robinson (T14-15). From what Bender saw from Mr. Robinson, he would "never have guessed" that he was capable of committing a crime under these circumstances, and the more Bender spoke with Mr. Robinson and the mental experts, "some things became apparent to me" (T15). Although Bender felt in his "gut" that Mr. Robinson was not insane or incompetent, "there were a lot of issues inside his head, and we learned about that as time went on" (T15).

Bender recalled that Dr. Berland and Dr. Antoinette Appel were initially involved in evaluating Mr. Robinson (T16). Bender believed that Dr. Appel had

held herself out to be a neuropsychologist and she was selected because of the possibility that Mr. Robinson suffered from brain damage (T17). Bender believed that Dr. Appel conducted various tests on Mr. Robinson (T18). He did not recall what her conclusions were, as that area would have been one in which co-counsel Irwin was responsible for handling (T18). Bender did recall, however, that he believed that Dr. Appel had a mental illness (T19). As for Dr. Berland, he was someone with whom the defense team "had some contact" but "not a substantial amount of contact" (T19). Dr. Berland believed that Mr. Robinson suffered from mental illness but not to a degree which rendered him incompetent or insane at the time of the murder (T20). It would be fair to say that it was the information provided by Dr. Berland alone which Bender relied upon in order to determine that Mr. Robinson was competent to enter his plea (T21).

After reviewing some transcripts of the proceedings at the time, Bender further recalled that Dr. Appel had "dropped the ball" in terms of being able to assist with Mr. Robinson's case in that she was difficult to reach after she conducted her evaluation and did not provide a report (T24). Thus, the only evidence they had about Mr. Robinson's mental illness at that time was the information provided to them by Dr. Berland (T24). Bender also recalled asking the trial court to enter a provisional plea of guilty on behalf of Mr. Robinson

pending another evaluation by Dr. Kirkland (T30). Requesting such a provisional or contingent guilt plea was "unusual" particularly in a first-degree murder case where the death penalty was still on table as a possible penalty (T30). Bender recalled that there was some sort of "time constraint" which forced him to enter the contingent plea before having the second mental health evaluation performed by Dr. Kirkland (T31). Bender re-emphasized that the sole source of information about Mr. Robinson's mental health at the time of the entry of the plea was that provided by Dr. Berland (T31). However, the report authored by Dr. Berland was dated January 24, 1995, and the guilty plea was entered on January 23, 1995, the day before Dr. Berland's written report (T32). Bender explained that perhaps the date on the report was incorrect, for he did believe he reviewed a written report prior to going forward with the guilty plea (T32).

Bender recalled that Mr. Robinson was very stoic when he was sentenced to death the first time, but he did not recall when Mr. Robinson had a change of heart and wanted instead to live and to withdraw his plea (T33). Bender's memory was refreshed with a letter from Mr. Robinson dated January 30, 1997, in which Mr. Robinson requested that Bender seek to have his plea withdrawn and to attempt to get him off of death row (T37).

After Mr. Robinson's death sentence was vacated, Bender was re-appointed

to his case for the resentencing proceeding (T40). Prior to the sentencing hearing before the court, Bender made no efforts to seek to have Mr. Robinson's plea withdrawn because he did not feel it "would be very effective" and that if it were to be granted, Mr. Robinson would be "back to square one" in terms of facing a guilt and penalty phase (T43-44). Because, in Bender's view, Judge Russell had heard the facts of the case and "was somewhat numbed by it," Mr. Robinson's best chance for a life sentence was to remain in front of Judge Russell and present a full case in mitigation (T44). While Bender discussed with Mr. Robinson the matter of keeping Judge Russell on the case, they did not talk at length about the withdrawal of the plea (T44). While he did not think that a motion to withdraw the plea would be successful, Bender acknowledged that "a better job could have been done presenting a written motion to preserve the issue" (T45-46). Six (6) months had gone by between the time that Mr. Robinson expressed his desire to seek to have his plea withdrawn and the date of the sentencing hearing (T47). No written motion to withdraw the plea was ever filed, nor was an evidentiary hearing requested on the issue (T47).

On July 24, 1997, Bender did make an *ore tenus* motion to attempt to withdraw Mr. Robinson's plea (T47). Bender acknowledged that this was "not a very effective method" of raising the issue, but he believed that Judge Russell

would have denied any such motion and he "felt it best just to concentrate on the penalty phase" and this is why "we didn't focus strongly on" the issue of withdrawing the plea (T48). Bender conceded that whether a defendant wants to withdraw his plea is not a matter of strategy but a decision for the client to make (T48). Mr. Robinson's instructions were "clear and unambiguous" that he wanted Bender to seek to have his plea withdrawn, and Bender admitted that "it's the client's—if the client wishes to withdraw his plea an effort should be made to do that, regardless of whether it will be granted or not" (T48-49). It would have been a far more effective course to have filed a motion with supporting testimony from Dr. Berland that Mr. Robinson suffered a mental illness back at the time of the entry of the plea in 1995 (T49).

On cross-examination, Bender testified that prior to the 1995 plea proceedings, he had had discussions with Dr. Berland about Mr. Robinson although Dr. Berland had not actually written a formal report (T50-51). Mr. Robinson was able to articulate his reasons for his decision which did not indicate any break with reality, in Bender's view (T52). Bender's discussions with Dr. Berland satisfied Bender as to Mr. Robinson's ability to enter a plea (T53). He did, however, request a second mental health expert "to have one more person make an evaluation to make sure we are correct" (T54). Even though he felt

comfortable with Mr. Robinson's competency, Bender explained that there's "always that little bit of feeling that there could be a little bit more done to make sure all the rights are preserved" (T55). His request for an additional mental health evaluation was not based on any actual doubt that he had as to Mr. Robinson's competence to enter a plea, but on the fact that "perhaps, we needed an additional opinion before we proceed" (T55).

When Mr. Robinson's case came back for the resentencing in 1997, Bender could not recall what discussions he may have had with Mr. Robinson about proceeding before a jury or the court, but Bender "probably felt" that it was better to proceed before the court alone because Mr. Robinson and Judge Russell got along well and "[there were so many bad facts about this case" (T56-57). Bender was "not sure it was the right decision to make" but it was "the best one" (T57). In terms of voluntary intoxication at the time of the offense, while Bender explained his belief that he could not "in good faith" go forward with that defense since Mr. Robinson was not under the influence, he acknowledged that Mr. Robinson, while not drinking at the time, "was mostly consuming cocaine" but not within hours of the murder itself (T58-59).

In 1997, Bender had Mr. Robinson evaluated again by mental health experts (T60). Nothing in the 1997 evaluation led him to believe that the 1995 evaluation

was in error (T60). Dr. Upon, the expert involved in the 1997 evaluation, would have been provided with the reports from 1995 and should have and probably did review those reports (T62). In 1997, there was an issue of obtaining a PET scan due to Dr. Borland's belief as a result of his 1995 evaluation that there was "the possibility" of brain damage (T62-63).

Bender's purpose in moving *ore tends* in 1997 to withdraw Mr. Robinson's plea was a "futile attempt to undo what I believed was an error in not presenting it earlier in a more proper fashion, despite my feelings that it had no success, so in order to preserve the issue before we began the penalty phase, I made an *ore tends* motion (T64). Bender did not believe knowing that such a motion had to be made in writing (T64). There were no witnesses to be called to support the *ore tends* motion since Bender did not believe that anything in the conclusions of Drs. Borland, Kirkland, Upon, or Lippman would have been relevant (T64). Hence, Bender's ore tends motion was made "sort of last minute and it was not effective presentation, but it did preserve the issue somewhat" (T65). If he had "better" evidence from the experts in support of the motion, even though it was presented ore tends, he would have presented it (T65). Upon was physically present to testify on the date of the *ore tends* motion (T65).

On redirect examination, Bender acknowledged that Drs. Upon and Lippman

were retained in 1997 for purposes of mitigation, not to evaluate Mr. Robinson's ability to voluntarily enter his plea in 1995 (T66). Bender was familiar with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.170 (f) which provides that the court, in its discretion, can permit a guilty plea to be withdrawn (T66-67). Bender conceded that the manner in which he raised the issue of Mr. Robinson's request to withdraw his plea was not appropriate:

I regret that to preserve the issue and to make an argument before the court that this was not done in a more common and professional manner by myself. I still stick by my earlier statements that I don't think—I didn't think it was going to be granted and I was looking further toward the penalty phase in trying to get him a life sentence than the expectations of having the plea withdrawn.

There's no doubt that the motion to withdraw the plea was not done in a competent manner, not that it would have resulted in being granted. So I have to say that I could have at least filed a written motion, at least had a hearing prior to the hearing and make some attempt to preserve the record better than I did.

(T67).

Dr. Wiley Wittenberg. Dr. Wittenberg is a clinical neuropsychologist and professor of clinical psychology at Nova Southeastern University (T72). He has been a neuropsychologist for fifteen (15) years at Nova, two (2) years at the Medical College of Wisconsin, and one (1) year at the Medical Center in Phoenix,

Arizona (T72). Dr. Mittenberg's practice consists primarily of seeing patients with known or suspected neurological and psychiatric disorders in both a forensic and clinical setting (T73). He has evaluated over 100 criminal defendants and has been qualified to testify as an expert for both the State and the defense in courts of the State of Florida (T74). Without objection from the State, Dr. Wittenberg was admitted as an expert by the lower court in the field of neuropsychology (T75).

In January, 2001, Dr. Wittenberg was requested to conduct an evaluation of Mr. Robinson (T75). Prior to conducting the evaluation, he reviewed a "pretty big stack" of records, including previous psychological evaluations, neuropsychological evaluations, and other similar records (T76). For example, Dr. Wittenberg reviewed records from (1) the Nevada State Hospital in Missouri in 1987, (2) the Hale County Hospital in Greensboro, Alabama, in 1987, (3) Alice County Service Center in 1982, (4) Regional Medical Center in Ocala, and (5) Orange County, Florida, Department of Corrections (T76-77). Based on these background materials, Dr. Wittenberg compiled an appropriate test battery which his technician administered to Mr. Robinson over the course of some eight (8) or nine (9) hours (T77). Once those results came back, Dr. Wittenberg himself spent some four (4) additional hours with Mr. Robinson for additional tests and a clinical diagnostic interview (T77).

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