# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1229

MICHAEL L. ROBINSON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE
BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 410519
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386) 238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457

#

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

Mr. Robinson was examined and psychologically tested by a number of experts based on an extensive history obtained from him, family members, and mitigation specialist Lynn Williams. (R2, page 58; Ins. 22-23; R2-136, Ins. 18-19). Furthermore, the underlying issues in this claim are essentially the same as those set forth in Claim IV, and Mr. Robinson provides little in the way of new facts counsel should have discovered or provided to the experts. Therefore, the Court concludes that this claim is refuted by the record for the reasons set forth in Claim IV.

(PCR 550).

The record indicates that during the resentencing hearing, defense counsel presented the testimony of several experts in psychology and mental health. Moreover, defense counsel also presented evidence of the family situation, Robinson's drug use and childhood problems through testimony

of his mother, Barbara Judy. A review of the record indicates that these individuals provided a complete picture of Robinson's family problems and mental state. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, this evidence was presented in a clear and comprehensible manner. Because the record conclusively refutes Robinson's claim that he received an incompetent mental health evaluation, the trial court's summary denial of this claim should be upheld. See Sireci v. State, 773 So.2d 34, 45 (Fla. 2000).

Robinson next faults the trial judge for "focusing" on the prejudice prong. (Initial Brief at 43) The trial judge addressed both deficient performance and prejudice. Even if she did not, "there is no reason for a court deciding an effective assistance claim ... to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 518 n. 19 (Fla. 1999), cited in Stewart v. State, 801 So.2d 59, 65 (Fla. 2001).

Robinson relies on Harvey v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995), Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 485 (Fla. 1998), and Cook v. State, 792 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 2001). In Harvey, this court remanded for an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase; however, in Harvey there was "substantial mitigation evidence" that had not been

presented at the penalty phase, including mental state information. In the present case, the motion failed to allege further information than that already presented. any Likewise, in Rivera, the trial judge held the ineffectiveness claims were procedurally barred. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing because "[t]he trial court found only one statutory mitigator despite the fact that numerous mitigating factors allegedly existed and could have been considered." Rivera, 717 So.2d at 484. This Court listed twenty-one (21) mitigating circumstances that were alleged in the postconviction motion which had not been presented at the penalty phase. Ironically, Rivera contains findings which discredit Robinson's Claim I(c) below.

Third, Robinson relies on *Cook* in which the postconviction motion alleged counsel failed to properly investigate the mental mitigators and Cook's family and personal background, and that counsel waited until the day before the penalty phase hearing to seek the assistance of a mental health expert. The trial court found one mitigating factor: the absence of any prior criminal history. Cook alleged that Dr. Haber's brief evaluation was done the morning of the penalty phase without the benefit of family and other background information. This Court noted that defense

counsel's direct examination of Dr. Haber consisted of five pages in the appellate record, the State's cross-examination covered eight pages, and there was no redirect examination. alleged substantial additional mitigating evidence Cook including a long history of drug use, abuse as a child, racial threats and attacks upon moving to Florida, the death of a close sibling at an early age, a learning disability, and growing up in an atmosphere of chaos and instability. Cook, 792 So.2d at 1202-1203. In the present case, the facts were insufficiently pled and the allegations refuted by the record. A defendant may not simply file a motion for postconviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing. The defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of the circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record and that demonstrate a deficiency on the part of counsel which is detrimental to the defendant. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989).

Robinson also relies on Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), a case in which counsel presented evidence of only one significant mitigating factor: no prior conviction. Wiggins, 123 S.Ct. at 2543. As the Court observed, Wiggins had an "excruciating life history on the

mitigating side of the scale." Wiggins, 123 S.Ct. at 2543. The Court further described the mitigation evidence as "powerful" and included severe privation and abuse while in the custody of his alcoholic, absentee mother and physical torment, sexual molestation, and repeated rape while in foster care. Wiggins was homeless and had diminished mental capacity. In the present case, extensive mitigation was presented and there is no additional mitigation alleged in the postconviction motion. The trial court's order is supported by competent, substantial evidence and should not be disturbed.

(b) Failure to object or advise the court of Mr. Robinson's entitlement to a jury determination of his sentence following the remand by this Court and to investigate Mr. Robinson's ability to knowingly waive that right in his earlier proceeding.

This issue was Claim XI below. The trial judge found:

Mr. Robinson alleges he did not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive his right to a capital sentencing jury and the trial court's inquiry on the purported waiver was inadequate. He argues that at the time of his plea, he was suffering from chronic brain damage and cocaine withdrawal, plus he had experienced multiple small strokes, and was in the midst of a major depressive episode, of which his wish to die was a symptom. He

also alleges that trial counsel failed to seek a jury for the 1997 penalty phase and appellate counsel failed to seek rehearing before the Florida Supreme Court on the issue of a jury to issue a recommendation.

The issues in this claim are similar to those set forth in Claim III<sup>3</sup>. The claim is procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal, and the Florida Supreme Court found the record refuted Mr. Robinson's claim that he was unable to form an intelligent waiver of his right to a trial. Robinson, 761 So. 2d at 274.

Furthermore, when the Florida Supreme Court vacated the original death sentence, it remanded the case to this Court with directions "to conduct a new penalty phase hearing before the judge alone." Robinson, 684 So. 2d at 180. Mr. Robinson had previously waived his right to a penalty phase jury. Therefore, counsel had no basis to assert a non-existent right.

This claim lacks merit, and it is summarily denied.

(PCR 554). This finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence. The record shows that after Robinson entered his plea, the trial judge discussed the penalty phase with counsel. Counsel then stated:

MR. IRWIN: We would be waiving the jury for penalty phase, judge.

THE COURT: Have you talked to him about that?

MR. IRWIN: Yes, we have.

THE DEFENDANT: I have stated that earlier.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>That counsel was ineffective in failing to withdraw the plea.

THE COURT: You don't want a jury for the penalty phase?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't feel I need it. I think if you - contingent on - can you return a penalty phase of death by that?

THE COURT: I've done it before.

THE DEFENDANT: That is what I have been advised by my attorneys. So yes, I waive my right to a jury to the sentencing.

(OR 33). The State argued that since this was such an important decision, the State requested a jury panel to make the recommendation (OR 33).

Although the voluntariness of the plea was raised in Robinson II, this precise issue was not raided. This issue is procedurally barred, but Robinson seeks to avoid the bar by raising the claim as ineffective assistance of counsel. What Robinson is now raising, is his right to a jury on remand for resentencing. In effect, he is arguing that this Court's remand for judge-alone resentencing in Robinson II was error. Robinson has also raised this issue in his habeas petition as ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. If this issue could have been raised on direct appeal from re-sentencing, as Robinson claim in his habeas petition, then it is procedurally barred for Rule 3.851 purposes.

This Court remanded for a resentencing hearing before a judge alone, and the trial judge followed this order precisely as required See State v. Budina, 29 Fla.L.Weekly D1062 (Fla. 2d DCA April 30, 2004). Robinson's real complaint is that this Court's order was wrong and the trial judge should not follow this Court's orders. As the trial judge observed, this issue has no merit and is properly summarily denied.

## (c) Failure to move to recuse trial court upon remand.

This was Claim XVI below. The trial court held:

Mr. Robinson alleges the Court's bias in favor of the State and predisposition to sentencing him to death are evident on the record. He arques the Court "constantly blamed the defense, was obsessed by what she thought was an over-abundance of money defendant in Mr. Robinson, on and improper remarks..." (See examples in his motion on He argues the Court changed its pages 61-62). ruling on his request for a SPECT scan because she felt to much time had been wasted on his case, and went through the motions of a penalty phase when she was already aware that she would sentence him to death. Finally, he cites the conclusion in the April 12, 1995 sentencing order that the aggravating circumstances could not be outweighed by any potential mitigating circumstances, arguing this demonstrates the Court's inability to consider any mitigating circumstances in his case at any time. Again, almost as an afterthought, he adds the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to recuse the Court prior to the new penalty phase hearing.

Mr. Robinson's claims of actual bias are procedurally barred because the statements to which he refers were made on the record and, therefore, they were known at the time of the direct appeal. In addition, the comments are insufficient to show

actual bias amounting to a denial of his constitutional right to a fair and impartial tribunal, citing Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 980 (Fla. 2000). The claim of actual judicial bias should have been, could have been, or actually was raised on direct appeal. (It does not matter whether it was or not; if it could have been raised, it is not appropriate for consideration in a motion for postconviction relief.) Therefore, it is procedurally barred.

To the extent Mr. Robinson alleges that counsel should have moved to recuse the undersigned judge, that claim lacks merit. Mr. Bender testified at the January 2003 evidentiary hearing that he asked Mr. Robinson if he wanted another judge. Together, they decided that Judge Russell and Mr. Robinson had a good rapport, and that by the time of the second sentencing hearing, she was "numbed" to the facts of the case. There is no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different if a different judge had assumed responsibility for this case.

This claim is procedurally barred, it lacks merit, and it is summarily denied.

(PCR 557-558).

The issue of the trial judge's bias or impartiality was raised in *Robinson II* and this Court held:

None of the alleged comments by the trial judge indicated bias or prejudice against the defense, and the record indicates that the trial court granted all of Robinson's requests for appointment of experts and additional funds with which to investigate mitigating evidence.

Robinson v. State, 761 So.2d 269, 273 (Fla. 1999). This issue is procedurally barred. Raising the issue as an

ineffective assistance claim does not resurrect the issue.

Medina, supra.

Further, this claim has no merit. As defense counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, they felt Judge Russell was the appropriate judge for Robinson's case. In order to succeed on a motion to disqualify:

We have repeatedly held that a motion to disqualify a judge "must be well-founded and contain facts germane to the judge's undue bias, prejudice, or sympathy." Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla.1992); Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610, 611 (Fla.1991); Dragovich v. State, 492 So.2d 350, 352 (Fla.1986). The motion will be legally found "if establish insufficient it fails to well-grounded fear on the part of the movant that he will not receive a fair hearing. " Correll v. State, 698 So.2d 522, 524 (Fla.1997). The fact that the judge has made adverse rulings in the past against the defendant, or that the judge has previously heard the evidence, or "allegations that the trial judge had formed a fixed opinion of the defendant's guilt, even where it is alleged that he discussed his opinion with others," are generally considered legally insufficient reasons to warrant the judge's disqualification. Jackson, 599 So.2d at 107.

Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480-481 (Fla. 1998). This issue was argued on direct appeal and all facts were before this Court. Robinson argues that, had defense counsel filed a motion to recuse Judge Russell, a different standard would have applied and he would have prevailed. This is pure speculation. This Court found no merit to the allegations

raised in *Robinson II*. If there was no merit to the allegation, defense counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise the issue.

Last, Robinson complains that evidence was taken at the evidentiary hearing on this point (Initial brief at 56). This claim is couched in terms of issues on which the trial court erroneously denied an evidentiary hearing. Robinson just admitted evidence was presented; therefore, this claim has no merit.

## (d) Failure to object to constitutional error.

This issue is insufficiently pled on appeal. See Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n. 6 (Fla. 1999). Robinson states that trial counsel failed to object and preserve issues of constitutional error, "for example" the unconstitutionality of the Florida death penalty (Initial brief at 57). counsel filed broad range of motions constitutionality of the death penalty. (OR 160-172, 173-174, 189-193, 196-212). This issue is not pled with enough specificity to identify the areas of complaint and frame a claim of ineffectiveness. Furthermore, the issue has no This Court has repeatedly rejected challenges to the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme. See Floyd v. State, 808 So.2d 175, 193 (Fla. 2002); Fotopoulos v.

State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 & n. 7 (Fla. 1992) (rejecting a series of constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty statute). Additionally, this Court has repeatedly rejected claims that electrocution is unconstitutional. See, e.g., Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413, 415 (Fla. 1999); Jones v. State, 701 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla. 1997); Medina v. State, 690 So.2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 1997). This Court has also rejected claims that lethal injection is unconstitutional and that the application of the amended statute violates the Ex Post Facto Clause. See Bryan v. State, 753 So.2d 1244, 1253 (Fla. 2000) (stating that lethal injection is "generally viewed as a more humane method of execution"); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657, 664 (Fla. 2000) (finding no ex post facto violation). Thus, even had counsel objected to the imposition of Robinson's death sentence on these grounds, he would not have prevailed. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make these meritless arguments. See Griffin v. State 866 So.2d 1, 2003); Melendez v. State, 612 So.2d 1366, 1369 (Fla. (Fla. The trial judge found the constitutional claims 1992). presented in Claims VII, IX and XIII procedurally barred and without merit (PCR 553, 555).

Robinson also claims counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of burden shifting on

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